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SHIP BUILDING ALONG THE
COPPER COAST:

A FORGOTTEN 19™
CENTURY INDUSTRY.

John H. Morris

Abstract

The history of 19t Century ship building in Waterford
city has been very well documented and while passing
mention is made of shipbuilding in Dungarvan, until now
there has been no published record of similar activities
along the stretch of coast between those urban centres.
A chance discovery of documentary records in the
National Archives, London, provides the first known
evidence of the existence of shipbuilding as an industrial
activity in suitably sheltered coves along the Copper
Coast during the 19t C. This paper explores the history
of the vessels constructed in those coves, their
classification and likely usage. Later contributions will
explore the biographies of the individuals associated
with those and other vessels, as well as the copper ore —
coal trading routes between the Copper Coast and ports
in south Wales, especially Swansea.

Introduction

It is perhaps now difficult to envisage that by 1776,
some 40% of all ships! constructed in Ireland were
built in shipyards in Waterford (city) and
Dungarvan?. While knowledge of the Waterford
city industry is now well documented for posterity
in the seminal study by Bill Irish3, awareness, let
alone knowledge of shipbuilding elsewhere in the
county has all but faded from memory, a fate
which perhaps reflects a combination of factors,
such as the infrequency and cursory nature of
contemporary references during the 19t C, and
non-survival of business records. Nonetheless, a
shipbuilding and repairing industry, capable of
building quite significant size wooden vessels, such
as brigs and sloops, as well as more modest fishing
vessels, was seemingly well established in
Abbeyside by 18224 Two years later, two
shipbuilders are listed under Dungarvan in Pigot
and Co.’s Trade Directory for 1824 (John Risbill,
Borheenatra St., and George Thompson, Main St.,
also a block and pump maker)® but only one is
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listed in Slaters Directory for 1846 (Barnabas
Cochrane)®.

Slender as such records might be, they at least
provide tangible proof of the one-time existence of
such an industry in Dungarvan, but of the
intervening coast between Dungarvan and
Waterford, there is no record whatsoever — until
now. A chance discovery of documentary records
in the National Archives, Kew, London, provides
the first known evidence of the existence of
shipbuilding as an industrial activity in suitably
sheltered coves along the Copper Coast during the
19" C. This paper explores the history of the
vessels constructed in those coves, their
classification and likely usage.

Subsequent articles, currently in preparation, will
explore biographic details of builders, owners and
masters, as well as the copper ore and coal
shipping trade between Knockmahon and
Dungarvan and various ports along the south coast
of Wales, with Swansea in particular, a global
epicentre of the copper smelting industry for
about 100 years from about the mid-18t C to well
into the 19t C 7.

19% C ship building in Co. Waterford.

Shipbuilding in Co. Waterford did not arise out of
nowhere in the 19 C. Its origins can be traced
back to at least the 13 C, founded upon a
tradition of skilled carpenters, those skills
gradually evolving over subsequent centuries into
a variety of specialist and allied ship building
skills®. By 1776, the industry was well established
in Waterford and Dungarvan, as noted above, and
although the proportion in later decades is not
mentioned, examples of vessels constructed after
1776 testify to the continued vibrancy of that
industry on into the 19t C°.

Shipbuilding in those centres, especially
Waterford, focussed on construction of larger
sailing vessels which participated in the coastal
trade to ports in Ireland, Britain and Europe and
even larger, ocean-going vessels built to service
trade routes to North and South America. They
did, however, also service the demand for more
modest vessels involved in a variety of coastal
trading and inshore commercial applications,



ranging from fishing to grain and coal transport
and almost certainly to more unusual applications
such as conveyance of limestone to lime kilns
located at suitable coastal locations, for example
at Annestown, Boatstrand and Stradbally.

But perhaps one of the more significant demands
for vessels which developed during the 19t C
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Figure 1. Map showing the location of the three sites
along the Copper Coast, Stradbally and Kilmurrin Coves
and Knockmahon, where vessels were constructed in
the first half of the 19th C, as well as Gardenmorris
inland from Kilmurrin. OSi base map, c. 1898-1909,
reproduced by kind permission of Ordnance Survey
Ireland, permit number MP 007021.

centred upon servicing the copper ore — coal
trading routes between Dungarvan/Knockmahon
and Swansea, the global centre of copper smelting
during the 19t C, and for coal between
Waterford/Dungarvan and other ports in South
Wales, such as Llanelli, Neath, Port Talbot and
Cardiff. But how and why shipbuilding spread
outward from Waterford and/or Dungarvan is
unknown, perhaps reflecting a combination of
factors, such as the bigger, established shipyards
gradually eschewing production of smaller and
more modest size vessels and/or in combination
with suitably skilled entrepreneurs seeking to
develop their own enterprises, rather than
continuing to work as paid employees. Whatever
the reason, shipbuilding had been established on
the Copper Coast by 1827 — at Stradbally and, at
slightly later dates, in Knockmahon and Kilmurrin
as discussed in more detail below (Fig. 1).
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Construction locations

Irish provides a detailed account of the processes
involved in the construction of wooden sailing
vessels in the Waterford shipyards, to which
reference is directed rather than summarised
here, including passing reference to the physical
characteristics of the sites upon which the vessels
were constructed and how
they were launched?.
_ Although not exactly
s =N N analogous, as the sites
were located within
designated shipyards, the
general principles provide
an analogue with which to
compare to the sites where
the Copper Coast vessels
/)l(/l’(l/, were constructed. Asin
Hea Waterford, it may be
presumed that they were
constructed in the open,
rather than in sheds, at locations which were both
sheltered from storms, but which also provided
easy access to the sea for launching. Itis
reasonable to surmise that the construction sites
were relatively level and floored by a soft
substrate to avoid damage to vessel hulls as they
were launched, either via a cradle along a
temporary slipway (see Irish, ibid, pp. 81-2) or by
digging a temporary channel from the sea up to
and around the vessel to float it off under suitable
tide conditions. The site would also need to have
been readily accessible from the landward side to
facilitate access by craftsmen, supply of timber
and other construction materials etc.

Two locations were ideally suited for such
construction purposes, both in sheltered coves
with shallow shelving sandy beaches and easy
access to roads for supply of materials etc from
inland sources — at Kilmurrin and Stradbally Coves
(Fig. 1). The third location is far more enigmatic —
Knockmahon, as the cliffs and rocky foreshore
along most of the shoreline of that townland are
far from ideal, leaving perhaps only two possible
locations, discussed further below.
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Types of vessels

The mast and sail rigging configurations of 19t C
sailing vessels varied considerably, of which only
the Bermuda sloop configuration, used on the vast
majority of modern-day pleasure yachts, would
now remain at all familiar — two triangular shaped
sails attached to a single mast in a fore and aft
alignment parallel to the length of the yacht, a
configuration which allows the vessel to sail as
close as possible to the direction from which the
wind was blowing. By contrast, square rigged sail
configurations, in which oblong shaped sails were
hung by spars mounted on masts perpendicular to
the length of the vessel, predominated on larger
19t C vessels equipped with two or more masts.
That sail configuration maximised the speed of the
vessel when running before the wind, but it did so
at the expense of manoeuvrability when sailing
into the wind, a limitation addressed by a plethora
of hybrid designs which incorporated both square
and fore and aft rigged sails. A detailed
consideration of such configurations is, however,
beyond the scope of this study, as the rigging
patterns used on smaller vessels of the type
constructed on the Copper Coast were much
simpler.

The respective registration documents of the
vessels constructed at the three locations noted
above (and see following sections) are variously
described as “hooker”, “cutter” or “sloop” rigged.
All were relatively small vessels, and all bore only a
single mast; and, despite the various names, the
sails on all three types were rigged in a very similar
manner, most particularly the hooker and cutter
rig configurations, as depicted schematically in
Figure 2:

e Two fore and aft aligned foresails
mounted to the front of the mast, the
most forward in this example attached to
a “bowsprit”, a spar projecting forward of
the bow to facilitate mounting of
foresails. Bowsprits could be either fixed
in position or, as in “running” bowsprits,
could be run out to their operating
position, or retracted back into the vessel
when not so required.

e Two sails mounted to the rear of the
mast: a lower, quadrilateral “gaff sail”,
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the leading edge mounted to the mast,
the lower edge mounted on a boom, the
upper edge on a spar called the “gaff”;
and, in this example, an upper, triangular
shaped, “gaff topsail” mounted to the
mast above the gaff spar (NB. not all
cutter rigged vessels bore gaff topsails).

e The sloop rig differed only in that it bore a
single foresail, rather than two.

Figure 2. A schematic depiction of a cutter rigged sailing
vessel, with a bow sprit projecting forward of the bow.
Note the fore and aft arrangement of all sails. (Image:
Casito at Wikipedia:
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Sail plan_cutt
er.svg).

Documentary records

The National Archives!! in Kew, London houses a
vast collection of documentary records pertaining
to the shipping industry accumulated over many
centuries. These are classified at a high level
according to the remit of whatever body created
the records in the first instance. The most
important of these are the records created by the
Board of Trade, and its successor bodies, classified
under the label BT, with more specific subordinate
sets of records assigned primary collection
numbers, all of which are invariably subdivided at
progressively more detailed levels. Within the BT
records the following are the most relevant
collections®?:

e BT 98: Registry of Shipping and Seamen —
Agreements and Crew lists, 1747 — 1860

e BT 99:as BT 98, but for the period 1861 —
1994


https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Sail_plan_cutter.svg
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Sail_plan_cutter.svg

e BT 107: Registry of Shipping and Seamen,
transcripts and transactions, Series |, 1786
- 1854

e BT 108:as BT 107, Series Il, for the period
1855 - 1889.

These collections were searched systematically on-
site over several visits c. 2011-4 specifically for
records of vessels and crews involved in shipping
copper ore to Swansea from Allihies, Co. Cork,
Knockmahon/Dungarvan, Co. Waterford and, less
systematically, from Arklow and Wicklow ports,
Co. Wicklow during the 19t C. That research
revealed a vast amount of pertinent information,
some of which contributed to a study of a specific
vessel involved in that trade, the Ruby, part owned
by Andrew Carberry, a prominent Dungarvan
merchant during the 19% C %3, It also revealed the
records of the three vessels the subject of this
paper, within the BT 107 collection.

That collection (and BT 108) houses the register of
shipping organised by port of registration and year
in a series of leather-bound volumes?, the
contents of which are not catalogued necessitating
search page by page. Each certificate in those
folios is a duplicate of those issued to vessel
owners, who were required to always keep their
copy on board the vessel. All certificates follow a
standardised format (see Fig. 4, as an example):

e The name, residence and occupation of
the owner, with ancillary details recorded
on the reverse if and as necessary. Vessel
ownership could only be recorded in the
name of an individual, not that of a
corporate entity, and was always
expressed as a fraction of 64 shares, full
ownership expressed as 64/64" shares,
half ownership as 32/64™, quarter
ownership 16/24" shares etc. Changes of
ownership might either be recorded on
the reverse or by the issue of a new
certificate (expressed de novo) either at
the same port of registration or, if the
vessel was destined for use elsewhere, at
a new port of registration. In all such
instances, it was mandatory that the old
certificate be surrendered for
cancellation. It was quite common for
vessels to be issued with two, three or
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more certificates over the course of their
operational lifetimes.

e The name and port of registration of the
vessel; its registered burthen®®; the name
of the master of the vessel; and, if the
first registration of the vessel, the place,
date, and name of the builder of the
vessel (such construction information was
not repeated on second or subsequent
certificates).

e Technical details of the vessel: number of
masts; if decked; its length, breadth and
depth, the latter two dimensions
measured amidship; how it was rigged
(i.e., the manner in which sails were
attached to the vessel); whether or not it
bore a bowsprit and figurehead and
various other details, not least the
material from which it was constructed.

e  Place, dates, and names of officials by
whom the certificate had been issued.

e Supplementary details, such as changes of
ownership, or the master of the vessel,
were recorded on the reverse of the
certificate. Manuscript notations might be
recorded on either side of the certificate.
These mostly related to cancellation of
the certificate and the fate of the vessel.

A sample search of Lloyds Registers'® for the years
1830-1, 1841, 1844, 1853, 1855 and 1857 was
made for any of the three vessels, without success,
which suggests that none of the vessels were
insured against loss or damage.

COPPER COAST SHIPBUILDING
1827 - 1853: THE VESSELS.

The following sections describe each of the three
vessels now known to have been built along the
Copper Coast between 1827 and 1853,
commencing with the oldest, the Saint James,
built in Stradbally in 1827, the Miner built in
Knockmahon in 1840 and finally the Cygnet, built
in Kilmurrin in 1853. It is not known whether
these three vessels were the only such vessels ever
constructed at these locations — or perhaps stand
representative of others for which records either
no longer exist or have yet to be discovered.



Saint James: built 1827.

Although first registered in the port of Waterford
in May 1828, the vessel was constructed in
Stradbally, in 1827, as certified by its builder,
William Carr. This and other details are noted on
its first registration certificate (Fig. 3; and see
transcription of key details).

Key registration details transcribed from images in
Figure 3:

Registration 1: Waterford — Certificate 7/1828

e Built by William Carr in Stradbally, per his
certificate dated December 5, 1827.

e Registered in Port of Waterford May 30,
1828. Registration number: 7/1828.

e Owner: Jane Towel, widow, of Stradbally

e  Master: John Curreen (sic)

e Hooker rigged, with running bowsprit,
carvel built, counter sterned. One half
deck and one mast. Stem to stern, 35’ 9”;
maximum beam, 11’ 11”; depth in hold 6’
7”. No galleries and no figure head.

e Registered burthen: 19 84/94 tons.

Registration 2: Waterford — Certificate 7/1829

e  First registration cancelled and registered
de novo May 11, 1829, Waterford;
Registration number 7/1829.

e Change of ownership: Andrew Carberry,
Merchant, Dungarvan, 32/64" shares;
John Curreen, Mariner, Dungarvan,
32/64"

e  Master: John Curreen

Change of ownership (noted on reverse of
Registration 2): 14 May 1834.

° Andrew Carberry sold his 32/64" share
in the vessel to John Curreen by “bill of
sale” dated April 3, 1834.

o Vessel “broken up many years ago” per
note on reverse dated June 22, 1869.

The builder’s certificate does not state where
precisely in Stradbally the vessel was constructed.
It is, however, reasonable to surmise that was
almost certainly in Stradbally Cove (Fig. 4), a site
almost ideal for such purposes, as it stands apart
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from the cliffs which define the coastline
immediately to the east and west. The cove is
moderately well sheltered, although exposed to
south southwesterly gales; it is floored by a very
shallow shelving, sandy beach; and it has direct
road access at its inland end.

This was quite a modest size and type of vessel,
with a registered burthen of just under 20 tons,
the intended use of which is not recorded on
either certificate.

Admittedly tenuous circumstantial evidence
derived from the business interests of its first
master and later full owner, John Curreen (? —
1838), as well as that of the prominent Dungarvan
merchant Andrew Carberry (1788 — 1866), suggest
that it was most likely used for coastal trading,
transporting various types of goods along the
coast between Dungarvan and harbours and coves
to the east and west. The draught of the vessel is
unknown but presumably quite shallow so that it
could be “beached” quite easily to load and off-
load cargoes direct on to beaches and carts, as
well as mooring alongside quays and piers. The
nature of those cargoes is again unknown,
although it is reasonable to surmise that it
reflected the trading and occupational interests of
its owners, which, in the case of Andrew Carberry,
were quite extensive, most notably centred on
coal, grain, lime and timber — see, for example
Slaters Trade Directory, 1846%7.

The loss of a different vessel, the schooner St. John
on Nov. 19%, 1838, as it was approaching
Dungarvan port laden with coal from Swansea?®, in
which John Curreen, Master, was one of eight
sailors who lost their lives, indicates that he was
involved directly in the Knockmahon/Dungarvan to
Swansea copper ore-coal trading route. His
participation in that trade suggests that he may
well have applied the Saint James to that business
also, in addition to many other potential coastal
trading applications. If that were indeed the
case, then it is unlikely that such a small vessel
would have been used for cross-channel voyages
to and from Swansea.



Figure 3. The Registration Certificates for the Saint
James. Left: Registration 1 - issued to Jane Towel of
Stradbally, certificate 7/1828 issued May 30, 1828 in the
Port of Waterford. Right: Registration 2 - issued de novo
May 11, 1829, in the Port of Waterford, to Andrew
Carberry and John Curreen, both of Dungarvan,
certificate 7/1829. Both images reproduced by kind
permission of The National Archives, London, England.

Instead, it is far more likely that it may have been
used to transport coal from Dungarvan to Stage
Cove, and copper ore in the reverse direction, as it
would have been able to berth directly alongside
the small jetty which had been constructed in the
cove pre-1840 (see Morris et. al. 2005%; and
discussion of Figs. 6 and 7 under Miner following).

There is another, or perhaps additional trading
application: transporting coal and limestone to the
lime kilns constructed along the Copper Coast at
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Stradbally, Boatstrand and Annestown. The
relatively small size of the vessel, and its
presumably quite shallow draft, would have made
it ideally suited to beaching on a sandy beach at
high tide while fully laden; off-loading its cargo at
low tide; and then refloat and depart on an
incoming high tide. Weight is lent to that
admittedly speculative conjecture through the
known business interests of its one-time co-owner,
Andrew Carberry.

COPPER COAST CONNECTS: Volume 1, Number 3, 2021
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Figure 4. Stradbally Cove as deplcted on the

early 20th C, 2nd edition, 6 inch scale OSi map (left); and a
2000 aerial photograph view of the cove, with the village
of Stradbally at the top of the image. Both images
reproduced by kind permission of Ordnance Survey
Ireland, permit number MP 007021.

MINER: built 1840.

The Miner was built in Knockmahon during 1840
but, unusually, it was first registered in Dublin,
rather than in Waterford, the nearest and most
logical registration port (Fig. 5), in the name of
Richard Purdy, Agent to the Mining Company of
Ireland which operated the Knockmahon copper
mines from about 1825 to 1888. That company
had its headquarters in Dublin, perhaps accounting
for the choice of initial Port of Registration.

Key registration details transcribed from
certificates reproduced in Figure 5:

Registration 1: Dublin — Certificate
Registration number 30/1840

o Built by Timothy Daly, in
Knockmahon, per his certificate
dated August 12, 1840.

o Registered in Port of Dublin, Sept
3, 1840.

¢~ COPPER 1IHg
Ly COAST

4 UNESCO Globai Geopark

1@

o

o

Owner: Richard Purdy, Agent of
the Mining Company of Ireland,
and the other members of the
said company; 64/64" shares
(NB. As vessels could only be
registered in the name(s) of
individuals, Purdy was so named
in his capacity as Agent, but very
clearly on behalf of MCI, not on
behalf of himself).

Master: John Connel (sic)

Sloop rigged, with running
bowsprit, carvel built, square
sterned. One deck and one mast.
Stem to stern, 36.6"; maximum
beam, 12.6’; depth in hold 6.6’.
No galleries and no figure head.
Registered burthen: 22 tons.

Registration 2: Waterford — Certificate
Registration number 10/1843

First registration cancelled and
registered de novo May 23, 1843,
Port of Waterford.

Change of ownership: Michael
Mahony, of Dungarvan,
Merchant; 64/64t" shares
Master: Patrick Morrissy.
Changed in Cork to John Bourke,
Jan. 24, 1844,

COPPER COAST CONNECTS: Volume 1, Number 3, 2021



i g" Certificate of British Registry. SN2

'?'é”w"uhmum Act passed in the Fourth Year of the Reign of
' ging WILLIA the Pourth, fnttaled, * An Act e the Registering of British Vessels,”

B R Ry Ak it sy G . Sl A‘

aviog made and subseribesd the Declaration required by the said Act, and having declared that /7«
wsterwith L /Ko Dhericdtod & L Saie Gy

ik ’
| ColBre Pt < g >
| g DY Lt >

o —

o2 wole Owners (im the proputtionis sperifiest pa e Back lisyeaf) of the Ship or Vessel called the

livier'— o= Qudlin which is of the Burthen of
Torwty b Tone, wd wherost frlhns Cornnct/
s Master, aud that the said Ship or Vessel was /30077 tis (A finrdsoid year Coie hentrea |
Jr'l‘f bansadtice buck Fpr6y 6f Aucechvuniicn tin thi Covvuity o fostatine
ot wns by the 6‘(7/.(.!.}’ Yiwweky Daly the Rusititrn Aoy
Ankerd thr 17ty 100, L |
B Gl Dtk Gite Giver eyper t @u.,.um. having certified to us that
Deckhand (116 ——  Maste, that her length from

the said Ship or Vessel has (‘oer
the fnner part of the Main Stem to the fore part of the Stera Post aloft is
M&& feet o tenths, her breadth in Midships is
| ~uclee oot Loz tenths, her depth in hold at Midships is

i e o teothothatsho i LUl — vigwed, with a Prcacuiisyr — Bowaprits
%5 sterned — it b e ——— Galleres, and tee F gt
e Bl R iy

5 '+ and the said
* caused suffcient Securlty to be given, a8 ix required by the said Act, the ¥aid Ship or Vessel called the
s been daly registered at the Poreot O (¢ K71 vc

. 2 %
 Hands, at the Gustom-Hous, i the id Porvof Dvchllves - . wia

Certificate of British Registry. e
THIS 1s to Certify, that in pursasnco of an Act passed in the Pourth Year of the Reign of
the Fourth, lntituled, * An Act for the Rogistering of Writish Vessols,”
Grrnelevses 25D Howens //r{—/« H g fun rses &
,h’% fauu‘} I llf/, ;gtmrm Freed ///m..’w
7
made and subseribed the Declaration required by tho awid Act, and having declared that 7{7

 solg/Owners (in the proportions specified on the Back hereof) of the Ship or Vessel called the
of Pt lovecore> which is of the Burthen of
.~ Tous, and whereo e I A

ot

- Copper Coast
#bcand . UNESCO

é{“““cowen
Ny COAST

rd »
" Certificate of British
g "lﬁ‘m No. 2.

THIS in to Certify, that in pursusnce of an Act passed in the Fourth Year of the Reign of
JAM the Fourth, luuﬂd.‘nmublcd-ududumh Vossels,”

P . ey S tgionin Com g ot Medine

— e

’/1%/ 5

cle Owaer (hmmm?du—umumammavuuum

: o Viitl font which is of the Burthea of

Tons, and whereof /ﬁ/‘»‘/ . ///)%/'

X S -7 o

said Ship or Vessel was - /- + 77 7 e adinkors. Bareri b

Montnse, £gheFintt o Tt ,‘74{..,

o sttt 0l 2 ,,}."' ..d« 0. A

ity MpApash ) 373
AT AN

Z /4‘/.’«. WP ate o having certified (o us that

Gie. Decksand s that her length from

/
e Bo Dere 575

Figure 5. The three Registration Certificates for the
Miner issued in 1840, 1843 and 1846:

Above left: Registration 1: first issued to Richard Purdy,
agent for the Mining Company of Ireland, at the Port of
Dublin, certificate 30/1840 dated Sept. 3, 1840.

Above: Registration 2: issued de novo to Michael
Mahony at the Port of Waterford, certificate 10/1843,
dated May 23, 1843.

Left: Registration 3: issued de novo to Cornelius and
Thomas Hickey at the Port of Baltimore, certificate
12/1846, dated June 9, 1846. All three images
reproduced by kind permission of the National Archives,
London, England.

Registration 3: Baltimore — Certificate Registration

number 12/1846

o Second registration cancelled
and registered de novo June 9,
1846, Port of Baltimore.

o Change of ownership: Cornelius
and Thomas Hickey, both
farmers and mariners of
Gunpoint, Co. Cork; 32/64™"
shares each.

o Master: Thomas Hickey.

o Vessel and certificate lost about
1847, per note on reverse dated
April 27, 1869.

= e COPPER COAST CONNECTS: Volume 1, Number 3, 2021



Figure 6. An annotated, Digital Globe 2011-2013, aerial
view of the cliffs which define most of the western part
of the coastline of Knockmahon townland, contrasting
with the sandy beach west of the River Mahon in
Templeyvrick townland, Bunmahon. Note the only two
possible vessel construction sites in this townland: Stage
Cove, and the “Yard ?” just below the site of the old
Coast Guard station. Images, Figures 6 and 7,
reproduced by kind permission of Ordnance Survey
Ireland, permit number MP 007021.

Figure 7. Three detail views of two possible vessel

construction sites in Knockmahon townland. Left and
centre — an OSi First edition 6 inch scale map of 1840-1,
and a Digital Globe 2011-2013 aerial view of the beach
area immediately below the old Coastguard Station
(destroyed by the IRA in 1921), now partly covered by a
gravel surface car park (Yard?), and a slipway connecting
it to the River Mahon. Right —a 2013-2018 aerial view of
the pebbly beach and very narrow channel through the
rocky foreshore in Stage Cove. See Morris et. al., 200520
for an interpretation of how coal and copper ore was
conveyed between wooden jetties in the cove, and the
Copper Yard on the cliff top.
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The prominent cleft in the rocky foreshore,
providing access to the pebbly beach immediately
below the Copper Yard in Stage Cove, might have
provided a barely suitable site on a very exposed
coastline (Figs. 6 and 7). In marked contrast, the
sandy beach area just east of the River Mahon, just
below what was the old Coastguard Station,
provides a far more likely construction site (Figs. 6
and 7). That small section of beach, now used as a
car park and for boat storage, accords with all the
favourable criteria noted at Stradbally and it even
includes a distinctive slipway from ground level
down to the river - perhaps a much-modified

remnant of the slipway down which the Miner was
launched in 1840.

Figure 8. A clip from a Iong|tud|nal sect|on of the Stage
Mine, Knockmahon, mine workings by W. W. Smyth,
dated 1845. Note the vignette of the mine buildings
atop the cliffs; the steep cliffs and rocky foreshore; and a
top-sail schooner anchored offshore. Original drawing:
GSI Goldmine archive,
https://secure.decc.gov.ie/goldmine/docpage.html?id1=
8262019&id2=9552792&id3=9554710 (accessed Dec. 1,
2021).

The initial ownership of the Miner leaves little
doubt that its intended use was to service the
copper ore — coal shipping requirements of the
Mining Company of Ireland. But in exactly what
capacity is unknown. It is, however, unlikely that it
was intended to be used to ship ore direct from
Knockmahon to Swansea, or coal on return
voyages, as it was a relatively small vessel —at a
registered burthen of only 22 tons, it might, at
best, only be able to carry about 25-30 tons of
copper ore.
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While shallow draft schooners could quite easily
moor alongside the quays in Dungarvan to offload
coal or take on a cargo of copper ore for delivery
to Swansea, that was most certainly not the case
at Knockmahon, immediately adjacent to the
copper mines (Fig. 8). There, much of the
coastline is defined by cliffs and a rocky foreshore
which might only be approached under the most
benign of weather conditions, necessitating
schooners or similar size vessels to anchor
offshore (Fig. 8). How then was coal and ore
transported to and from the mines either to
vessels anchored just offshore or via trans-
shipment at Dungarvan?

Morris et.al., as part of a very detailed study of the
Tankardstown mineral tramway in 20052,
postulate that ore and coal were conveyed to and
from the mines by way of lighters, or smaller
vessels, which shuttled between one or other of
two wooden jetties in Stage Cove, just below the
mines’ storage yard, to the vessels anchored
offshore — or on to Dungarvan. It is beyond
reasonable doubt that the appropriately named
Miner was involved in the ship to shore coal-
copper transfer operations, as it was owned by the
mining company which operated the mines, and
limited indirect evidence discussed above suggests
that the Saint James may also have been involved
in such operations also. It is unknown whether the
Miner continued to service copper ore and coal
transhipment activities after its change of
ownership in 1843. However, the change of
Master in Cork, in 1844, suggests that its coastal
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trading was orientated along the southwest coast
which would perhaps explain why it was
eventually re-registered in Baltimore, Co. Cork in
1846.

CYGNET: built 1853.

Unlike both preceding vessels, for which their o Fnc 3 z

intended use is a matter of interpretation, for . /fjﬂ Ine Cemmbm of British lugisu-y

this, the largest vessel yet discovered to have ] THIS s 0 Corty, ,9/,, S /ﬁ/,ﬂ y /W/M /Nw«/ 7 %"‘i ‘
been built on the Copper Coast, a MIM{M/(/ G tntlituhina

contemporaneous report published in the r

/ 4 Z L Lt P
Waterford News on April 29t" 1853 leaves no < / /l et /' L o 5 N
doubt as to its ownership (John Power O’Shee), ' EMt - AmiiCagi / frresey e vl //W,

javing made and subscribed the Decluration required by hn anfl having declared that %{
o —

the profession of its builder (George Marshall) P i
and intended use — as a pleasure yacht: :

“.. one of the most beautiful and graceful ,
yachts that ever graced the noble Suir. L i ke Owpll G the proportions specifiod on the Back bereo) of te s o Vessel called the

She is the property of John Power

I ' %%Wi//_ o Watn o of he Butbn of
/235"
’ P V W.}nﬂ Tm}.andwhu‘of/é(, #I{O M%(/ g
O’Shee, Esq., J.P., of Gardenmorris, in - e e e K s 4/; o o bl

this county. This beautiful specimen of Hhagenutly Luhts Hmndutly lﬂ%ﬂlg MWW
home-made naval architecture was built ; '
at Bunmahon by native artizans — not
regular shipbuilders — under the
supervision of an experienced yacht
builder from Dublin.”

Key registration details transcribed from
certificates reproduced in Figure. 9:

e  Built at Kilmurrin (presumably Kilmurrin
Cove, NOT Bunmahon as noted in the
Waterford News report) by George
Marshall per his certificate dated March
17, 1853.

e Registered in Waterford Port April 13,
1853

e Owner and Master: John Power O’Shee
of Garden Morris, Gentleman, 64/64t"

shares. Figure 9. The Registration Certificate, number 5/1853,
e  (Cutter rigged, with a running bowsprit, no for the Cygnet, registered in the Port of Waterford, April
figure head. Square sterned, carvel built. 13, 1853.

One deck, one mast. Stem to stern: 65’
5”; beam 15’ 5”, hold depth 9’ 7”.
e  Burthen: 55 1225/3500 tons.

Kilmurrin Cove is as equally well sheltered as
Stradbally Cove and, like it, offers all the same
advantages to facilitate vessel construction —a
sandy, gently shelving beach with direct road
access and, other than under conditions of
exceptionally heavy wave conditions, open access
to the sea for launching (Fig. 10).
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Figure 10. A second edition, early 20t C OSi 6 inch scale
map and Digital Globe 2011-2013 aerial photograph
view of Kilmurrin Cove, showing the shallow shelving
sandy beach and direct road access along its eastern
margin. Kill and Gardenmorris are located about 4km
due north of this cove, up the road which passes north
out of the top edge of both images. Both images
reproduced by kind permission of Ordnance Survey
Ireland, permit number MP 007021.

As the Waterford News report indicates very
clearly, the Cygnet was built to be used by John
Power O’Shee as a yacht, i.e., as a pleasure craft,
rather than to service any form of commercial
activity, an intended usage which explains the
otherwise unlikely combination of a Gentlemen
and member of the Landed Gentry serving in the
much humbler occupation of a ship’s “Master”.
The vessel was launched in Kilmurrin Cove on April
26, 1853, and sailed immediately for Waterford
Harbour, where it arrived that evening?2.

Subsequent newspaper reports between 1854 and
1858 document its various voyages, all of which
seem to have been limited to passages between
Waterford and Dunmore East, where it occupied
annual “stem to stern” moorings there over the
summer months?3, only to return to Waterford
Harbour each autumn. Other than in 1854, its
annual usage seems to have been very limited.
That year the Cygnet arrived in Dunmore East on
June 23" under the command of John P. O’Shee,

‘coPPER I (S
Ny COAST

4 UNESCO Globai Geopark

12

presumably to take up its annual summer
moorings. Later, in August, O’Shee is noted as one
of many guests who had taken up residence in the
Hotel, Dunmore East, ahead of a regatta, variously
described as either the “Waterford Harbour” or
“Dunmore” Regatta, which was scheduled to be
held September 5" — 7t" and for which O’Shee was
to serve as one of several stewards?*. The Cygnet
was entered in a £20 race on Sept. 7" which
consisted of two circuits of a course from
Dunmore Bay to Fileskirt - Hook Tower - Loftus Hall
and back to Dunmore?>. Although the Cygnet
crossed the line in first place, on handicap it was
placed second. It subsequently returned to
Waterford Harbour on September 23™ to take up
its winter moorings?®. Subsequent accounts in
1855, 1856 and 1858 suggest a similar very limited
annual usage, apart from noting that it was in
Waterford Harbour in April 1858 refitting for the
season?’.

John Power O’SHEE died on July 5", 1859%,
although only just over a month later, on August
12, the Cygnet sailed from Waterford to
Dunmore?® and then on to Queenstown (Cobh) on
what may well have been its final voyage,
presumably under the authority of its new owner,
Nicholas Power O’SHEE. The registration certificate
(Fig. 9) notes that it was broken up in 1859,
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possibly in Cobh if that was indeed its final
destination, although it was not until 1861 that a
newspaper report notes that it had been
condemned and broken up®.

There are several quite enigmatic dimensions to
the history of this vessel.

Why, when construction of vessels such as the
Cygnet could easily have been undertaken by
contemporaneous shipbuilders in Waterford or
Abbeyside, did O’Shee instead choose to have it
constructed in a relatively isolated cove such as
Kilmurrin? Was his decision based on such prosaic
issues as the most competitive quotation or yacht
construction experience? Or might it have been for
more personal and/or philanthropic reasons?
Kilmurrin is only c. 4km due south of Gardenmorris
(Fig. 1), within easy reach for him to have visited
the site daily, or at least frequently, to review
progress on the construction of his yacht; and/or it
might have facilitated supply of suitable timber
from his estate. His reasons might however have
been of a more philanthropic nature — to provide
employment in the immediate aftermath of the
Great Famine. That possibility is consistent with
his contributions to efforts to construct a Catholic
Church in Knockmahon in 1854; making substantial
provision for his illegitimate son Patrick O’Shee3.;
and, not least, by inclusion in his will of quite
handsome bequests to two of his local employees
- £1,000 to his steward Patrick Butler and, most
notably, £500 to his dairy maid, Nancy Murphy32,

Why did O’Shee consider acquiring a yacht at all?
Unlike his brother and successor, Nicholas Power
O’Shee, who was seemingly quite a committed
yachtsman, as evidenced by his membership of
three yacht clubs in 1857 (Royal Harwich, Essex;
Royal Thames and Royal Victoria, Hyde, Isle of
Wight), and owner of a substantial yacht (the
schooner Anonyma, 64 tons), John P. O’Shee was
neither a member of a yacht club, nor even listed
as an owner of a yacht®. This, in combination with
the very limited use he made of it suggests that his
interest in sailing was quite marginal - his purpose
perhaps instead focussing upon employment
aspects during its construction, maintenance and
very limited operation.
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Most enigmatic of all is why it was deemed
necessary to condemn and break up a seemingly
very lightly used and well-maintained vessel which
was only 6 years old. His will does not mention the
yacht so, unless he left some other form of
instructions to his brother regarding its fate, then
that decision was presumably left to the discretion
of the latter. The vessel was certainly sufficiently
sea-worthy to undertake its last recorded voyage
to Queenstown (Cobh) in August 1859, at the
same time as Nicholas returned to Cowes, Isle of
Wight on his yacht Anonyma®*. If not, it would
have been more logical for it to have been
condemned and broken up in Waterford. This
raises the totally speculative suspicion that it may
been condemned and broken up as a mark of
respect to the memory of John Power O’Shee —
akin to the custom of Viking kings being buried in
their longships.

CONCLUSION

This paper provides the first published record of
shipbuilding as an industrial activity undertaken
along the Copper Coast during the first part of the
19'" Century. The documentary evidence cited
describes the construction of three small/modest
size vessels, in 1827 (the Saint James), 1840
(Miner) and 1853 (Cygnet), in reasonably well
sheltered coves/locations at Stradbally,
Knockmahon and Kilmurrin respectively. These
locations shared similar physical characteristics
which facilitated such construction: shallow,
shelving sandy beaches or riverbanks, direct access
to the sea for launching and inland to roads for
ease of access by craftsmen and supply of
construction materials and equipment.

The Saint James and the Miner were constructed
to serve commercial coastal trading applications,
the latter in connection with copper ore and coal
shipping applications to and from the copper
mines at Knockmahon, a trade with which the
Saint James may have been involved also. In
marked contrast, the Cygnet was constructed to
serve as a pleasure yacht only. Notwithstanding
their intended use, the one-time existence of
these vessels demonstrates that appropriate ship
building skills and construction sites existed in the
region, and it is thus conceivable that the



construction and/or repair of many more small
vessels at these locations might yet remain to be
discovered.
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